OCEANA, INC. v. GUTIERREZ et al Doc. 109

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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)
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United States Secretary of Commerceglet ) Civil Action No. 08-1881 (PLF)

)
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)

FISHERIES SURVIVAL FUND )

)

Defendartintervenor. )
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)
OPINION

This case involves a challenge to a Biological Opinion issued by the National
Marine Fisheries Service (“NMFS”), in whi¢tMFS determined that the operation of the
Atlantic Sea Scallop Fishery wial not jeopardize the continued existence of the Northwest
Atlantic population segment of loggerhead sea turtles. This population segisetias
threatened under the Endangered Species Act (‘ESA”). Plaintiff Oceana, Inc. (&Qcean
maintains thathe agencys nojeopardy determination wastétrary and capricious, and asks this
Court tovacate the Biological Opinion. Oceana argues that NMFS reachedjéspardy

determination by employing an interpretation of a key regulation thatesemis both the

! Pursuant to Rule 25(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court

substitutes as defendant the curi®@etretary of CommercPenny Pritzkerfor formerActing
SecretaryRebecca M. Blank
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regulatory text as well abelanguageand spiritof the underlying statute, the ESA. In addition,
Oceana contends that NMFS negledteits analysigo take proper account of variofators
that harm loggerheads, instead focusing solely on the isolated effects o&to@ Sshery.
Oceana specifically accuses NMFS of ignoring the effects of climate chamgsue which
Oceana had raised in comments that it submitted to the agency. Quo#aerargues that
NMFS has failed teestablish adequate monitoring processes to ensure thatdmthe number
of loggerheads thadawfully can be harmed are not exceeded byFikkery’s operation.

This matter is before the Court orossmotions for summary judgmefited by
Oceanand NMFSas well ady defendantntervenor Fisheries Survival Fundhe Court
heardoral argument on these motions on November 25, 2014. Upon consideration of the parties’
papers, their arguments presented in opemtcthe relevant gal authorities, and pertinent
portions of the administrative record, the Court will grant in part and deny iegertparty’s
motion for summary judgment and it will remand this matter to the ageneyimited

purpose’

2 The papers considered in connection with the pending motions include:

Oceana’s first amended complaint (“Am. Compl.”) [Dkt. No. 80]; the federal defésicdanswer
[Dkt. No. 82]; Fisheries Survival Fund’s answer [Dkt. No. 81]; Oceana’s motion for symmar
judgment (“Oceana MSJ") [Dkt. No. 87]; the federal defendants’ combined opposition to
Oceana’s motion and cressotion for summary judgment (“NMFS Opp. & MSJ”) [Dkt. Nos. 88
and 88-1 (memorandum in support)]; Fisheries Survival Fund’s cross-motion fiorasym
judgment (“FSF MSJ”) [Dkt. No. 91]; Oceana’s combined reply in support of its motion for
summary judgment and in opposition to NMFS and FSF motions for summary judgment
(“Oceana Reply”) [Dkt. No. 93]; the federal defendants’ reply in support of¢hessmotion

for summary judgment (“NMFS Reply”) [Dkt. No. 96]; Fisheries Survival Fung$yre

support of its cross-motion for summary judgment (“FSF Reply”) [Dkt. No. 97]; i2¢ea
motion for oral argument [Dkt. No. 101]; the federal defendants’ notice of supplemental
authority [Dkt. No. 105]; Oceana’s motion to strike federal defendants’ notice of sugym
authority [Dkt. No. 106]; the federal defendants’ opposition to Oceana’s motion to stkike [D
No. 107]; and the joint appendix of administratrecord (“AR”) and supplemental
administrative record (“SAR”) materials.



. STATUTORY AND REGULATORYFRAMEWORK
The Endangered Species Axét1973, as amended, 16 U.S.C. § 1864eq, has
beenregarded a%he most comprehensive legislation for the preservation of endangered species

ever enacted by any nationTenn. Valley Auth. v. Hill, 437 U.S153, 180 (1978).The ESA

“seeks to protect species of animals against threats to their continuitenegisaused by man.”

Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 558 (199@nder the ESA, species may be listed

either as “endangered” or as “threatened.” B&&).S.C. § 1533. An endangered speisiéany
species which is in danger of extinction throughout all or a significant portionrahige.”

16 U.S.C. 8 153®). A threatened speciés “any species which is likely to become an
endangered species within the foreseeable future throughout all or a sigmuédzon of its
range.” 16 U.S.C8 1532(20).The ESA is jointly administered by two federal agencibg

Fish and Wildlife Servic€'FWS”) andthe National Marine FisheseService 50 C.F.R.

8 402.01(b).FWS administers the statute with respect to species under the jurisdiction of the
Secretary of the Interior, whiEMFS covers those species under the jurisdiction of the

Secretary of CommerceNat’| Ass’n of Home Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644,

651 (2007).
“Section 7 of the ESA prescribes the steps that federal agencies must take to

ensure that their actions do not jeopardize endangered wildlife and fia&l’Ass’n of Home

Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.&t652. Under Section 7(a)(2)e]ach Federal

agency shall, in consultation with and witie assistance gFWS or NMFS] insure that any
action authorized, funded, or carried out by such agenag not likely tojeopardize the

continued existence of any endangered species or threat@a@dr result in the destruction



or adverse modification of habitat of such species.” 16 U.S1636(a)(2)° Formal

consultation under Section 7 is only required, howevkerw a federal agency has concluded
after an initial review that its action “may affect listed species or critical hdbBate50 C.F.R.

§ 402.14(a).At the conclusion of th8ection 7consultatiorprocessFWS orNMFS mustissue

a Biological Opinion(*BiOp”), “setting forth [its] opinion and a summary of the information on
which the opinion is based, detailing how the agency action affects the spetsaxitcal
habitat.” 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(3)(A9eealso50 C.F.R.§ 402.14(h).

When the BiOp concludes that jeopardy is likely to result from the action under
review, the consulting agency “shall suggest those reasonable and prudentwadtewtath [it]
believes would not violate [Section 7(a)(2)] and can be taken by [the action agency].5.06 U
8 1536(b)(3)(A) seealso50 C.F.R. § 402.14(h)(3). “Following the issuance of a ‘jeopardy’
opinion, the agency must either terminate the action, implement the proposediatteonaeek
an exemption from the Cabinketvel Endangered Spesi€ommittee pursuant to 16 U.S.C.

8§ 1536(e). Nat'l Ass’n of Home Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.S. at 652. &/tie

consulting agencgoncludes that the agency actismot likely to jeopardize the continued
existence of the specibsit isnonethelesikely to result in some “incidental taketfie BiOp
must set fortlan Incidental Take StatemgfikTS”) , whichspecifies thgpermissible’amount or
extent” ofthis impactonthe species 16 U.S.C. 8§ 1536(b)(4); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(ijake” is

defined by the ESAs meaningto harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, Kkill, trap, capture,

3 The agency whose action is at isglkenown as the “actiongency,”while either

FWS or NMFS serves as the “consulting ageén&eeNat’| Wildlife Federation v. NMFS524
F.3d 917, 924 (9th Cir. 2007). In this case, NMFS is both the “action agency” and the
“consulting agency.” NMFSSustainable Fisheries Division of its Northeast Regional Office
administers the fisheries management program that governs the Atlantic B@a Sshery,
which makes it the action agency here. Am. Compl. § 19. The Protected Resourgen Divis
the same Regional Offierved as the consulting agency anthoredhe Biological Opinion.
Id. T 18.




or collect, or to attempt to engage in any such conduct.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(19). Although
Section 9 of the ESA prohibits takes of listed species, 16 U.S.C. § 1538(@idgntal takes
are permissible if they occur in accordance with the conditions set forth TisarbD C.F.R.
8 402.14(i)(5). These conditions include “reasonable and prudent médkatese considered
“necessary or approptie to minimizéthe extent oincidental taking 50 C.F.R.
8 402.14(i)(2)(ii). Theactionagency is “required” to reinitiat®ection 7 consultation
“immediately” if the amount or extent of taking specified in lin@idental Take Statemeirst
exceeded50 C.F.R. 88 402.14(i)(4), 402.16(a).

In formulating a Biological Opinion, FWS and NMFS muss$é the best
scientific and commercial data availabled6 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(g)(8).
A BiOp constitutes final agency action subjecjudicial review under the Administrative

Procedure Act SeeBennett v. Speab20 U.S. 154, 177-78 (1997).

IIl. BACKGROUND

Loggerhead sea turtlegr Caretta carettaarethe most abundant species of sea
turtle living in United States water§SAR 13142. They are long-lived, and do not reach
reproductive maturity until between ages 32 to 35. SAR 13157. Loggerheads feed on mollusks
and crustaceans, among other things. SAR 13M\ES explains that “[ijnU.S. Atlantic
waters loggerheads commonly occur throughout the inner continental shelf from Floridpdo Ca
Cod, Massachusetts and in the Gulf of Mexico from Florida to Texas, although tiseingae
varies with the seasons due to changes in water temperature.” SAR 181458, loggerheads
were listed under the ESA as threatened throughout their global r8ag8AR 13142.

On September 22, 2011, NMFS dad/Sissuedafinal rule thatdividedthe

worldwide population of loggerheads into nine distinct population segments (“DPSs”), each of



whichwas separatelysted asitherendangered or threatened under the ESAR 13144
(citing 76 Fed. Reg. 58,868 (Sept. 22, 2011)his case concerngst one of these distinct
population segments: the Northwest Atlantic DPS (“NWA DP®&f)ose range extends north of
the equator, south of 60° N latitude, and west of 40° W longit8éeSAR 13144-45.The
NWA DPS— which, in the proposed version of the rule, originally had listad as
endangered— ultimatelywaslisted asathreatenedpeciesn the final rule. SAR 13143-44
seealso76 Fed. Reg. 58,868, 58,917-24, 58,945-

TheBiOp under challenge here assegbesimpact of the Atlantic Sea Scallop
Fishery on the NWA DPS of loggerheads. This Fishery’s operation is govertieelSnallop
FisheryManagement Plaff ScallopFMP”), pursuant to the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery
Conservation and Management Act (‘“MSA'3eel6 U.S.C. 88 1854(a), (b). The MSA governs
domestic marine fisheries through eight regional fishery management sdbhatiprepare
FMPs 16 U.S.C. 88 1801(b)(B), 1852(h). The Scallop FMP was implemented on May 15,
1982 to managecallop harvestingSeeSAR 13129. “Scallops are found in the Northwest
Atlantic Ocean from North Carolina to Newfoundland, along the continental shetfallypon
sand and gravel bottoms.” SAR 131Z&e Fishery uses dredge and bottom trawl vessels to
capture scallops, operating yeaund in U.S. waters. SAR 13125-ZBhe Fishery primarily
uses tredge gear, a set of steel frames, usually fifteen feet in length, arei¢cbwed along the
sea floor,” but also uses “fgwl gear” comprised of a coneshaped net equipped with steel

weights, also towed along the seabed.” Oceana, Inc. v. Evans, 384 F. Supp. 2d 203, 213

(D.D.C.),order clarified 389 F. Supp. 2d 4 (D.D.C. 2005).
NMFS first initiated formal consultation under Section 7 for the Fishery on

December 21, 2001. SAR 1312This first consultation concluded with the issuance of the



February 2003 BiOp. As with every BiOp since, NMFS concluded that the Fisbegration
would not jeopardize the continued existence of the loggerhead sealairtdMFS reinitiated
formal mnsultation later that year, in November 2083g to the availability ofelevant new
information Id. The reconsultation resulted in the February 2004 Bi@h. NMFS again
reinitiated consultation in September 2004 to consygémorenew informatiam, resulting in a
new BiOP issued in December 2004.

Plaintiff Oceanaaninternationaladvocacy group focused on ocean conservation,
brought a lawsuit challengirthe December 2004 BiOp, beginning more than ten years of
litigation againsNMFS’ BiOpsrelating tothe Atlantic Sea Scallop Fishery’s effect on the
loggerhead sea turtle. Oceana’s challemge unsuccessfuind the December 2004 BiOp was

upheld in an opinion by Judge Huvell®ceana v. Evans884 F. Supp. 2d 203 (D.D.Coxder

clarified, 389 F. Supp. 2d 4 (D.D.C. 2005).

NMFS thenreinitiated consultatioand issued a new BiOp in September 2006,

which Oceana also challenged in colBeeOceana, Inc. v. Gutierre€jvil Action No.
1:07cv-00142-RBW (D.D.Cfiled Jan. 19, 2007). After the litigation was underway, however,
in April 2007 NMFES yet againreinitiated consultationSeeNotice re:Biological Opinion,

Oceana v. GutierreNo. 1:07ev-00142RBW (May 4, 2007 [Dkt. No. 14]. Because

consultation was continuing, the parties agreed to stay the litigation. Motion to Agpiate

Stipulation& Order, Oceana v. GutierreNo. 1:07ev-00142RBW (June 29, 2007) [Dkt. No.

21]. The parties then voluntarily dismissed the case atfterieg into a Joint Stipulation,
whereby NMFS agreed to consider Oceana’s comnienisvelopinghenew BiOp SeeJoint

Stipulation& Order,Oceana v. GutierreNo. 1:07ev-00142RBW (Jan. 23, 2008) [Dkt.

No. 25].



In March 2008, NMFS issued a superseding Bi@ipe 2008 BiOp”) (later
amended on February 5, 2009). SAR 13120. Oceana then initiated the present action
challenging the 2008 BiOp, filing its complaint on October 31, 2@&=Dkt. No. 1. In
February 2012, NMFS reinitiated constiononce again, and the folving month it filed a
motionseeking a stay of proceedings with respect to Oceana’s chaitetige2008 BiOp.
SeeDkt. No. 70. Over Oceana’s objection, the Court graNfééFS’ motion, seeDkt. No. 73,
and this action was stayed. NMFS issued the superseding BiOp on July 12, 2012, and the stay
was lited on October 31 of that year. In the 2012 BiOp, NMFS estimated that the Scallop
Fishery would result in a total of 301 loggerhead takes annuafR 13245-48. @those takes,
NMFS predicted that during the 2012 fishing year up to 195 would be fatal, and that in
subsequent yeamly up to 112 would be fatal due to the implementaticedfinological
improvements designed to protect loggerhe&IBR 13263. The 2012 BiOp concluded that
notwithstanding this loss of liféhe continued operation of the Scallop Fishery would not be
likely to result in jeopardy to thdWA DPS of loggerheads-ollowing Oceana’s filing of an
Amended Complaint challenging this updated BiOp, the patrties filed the three peratiag

motions for summary judgment.

lll. LEGAL STANDARD
“[W]hen an agency action is challenged|, tlhe entire case on review is a question

of law, and only a question of lawMarshall Cnty. HealtlCare Auth. v. Shalala, 988 F.2d

1221, 1226 (D.CCir. 1993). While the general standard for summary judgment set forth in Rule
56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure does nollyadppa review of agency actipsummary
judgment nonetheless “servestlas mechanism for deciding, as a matter of law, whether the

agency action is supported by the administrative record and otherwise consibténée WPA



standard of review."Sierra Club v. Mainella, 459 F. Supp. 2d 76, 90 (D.D.C. 2006) (citing

Richards VINS, 554 F.2d 1173, 1177 & n.28 (D.Cir. 1977));accordCottage Health Sys. v.

Sebelius631 F. Supp. 2d 80, 89-90 (D.D.C. 2009).

Under the APA, a reviewing court shall “hold unlawful and set aside agency
action, findings, and conclusions found to be . . . arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or
otherwise not in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. 8§ 706(2)(Ahe arbitrary and capricious
standard is deferential; it requires that agency action simply be ‘reas@mabiasonably

explained.” Communities for a Better Environment v. EPA, 748 F.3d 333, 335 (D.C. Cir. 2014)

(quotingNat| Telephone Cooperative Ass’n v. FCC, 563 F.3d 536, 540 (D.C. Cir. 2G&®);

alsoKennecott Greens Creek Min. Co. v. Mine Safety and Health Admin., 476 F.3d 946, 954

(D.C. Cir. 2007) (“[The] standard of review under the arbitrary and capricious t@dy
reasonableness, not perfection.”). “An agency action will be upheld if the ageticylate[d] a
satisfactory explanation for its @&t including a rational connection between the facts found and

the choice made.”FirstEnergy Serv. Co. v. FERC, 758 F.3d 346, 352 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (quoting

Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of United States, Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.,

463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Furthermore, a court will “give an

extreme degree of deference to the agency when it is evaluating sciemifigitthén its

technical expertise.Communities for a Better Environment v. EPA, 748 F.3d at 336 (quoting

City of Waukesha v. EPA, 320 F.3d 228, 247 (D.C. Cir. 2003)) (internal quotation marks

omitted);seealsoTroy Corp. v. Browner, 120 F.3d 277, 283 (D.C. Cir. 199/e(erakourt

should “review scientific judgments of the aggrigot as the chemist, biologist, or statistician

that we are qualified neither by training nor experience to be, but as a reveawme@xercising



our narrowly defined duty of holding agencies to certainimal standards of rationality)”

(quotingEthyl Corp. v. EPA, 541 F.2d 1, 36 (D.C. Cir. 1976) (en banc)).

“The Courts review, howevemust be ‘searching and careful Colorado River

Cutthroat Trout v. Salazar, 898 F. Supp. 2d 191, 199 (D.D.C. 2012) (qidathdenvtl. Dev.

Assn’s Clean AiProject v. EPA, 686 F.3d 803, 810 (D@Ir. 2012)). “An agency decision is

arbitrary and capricious if it ‘relied on factors which Congress has not intendecbnsider,
entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, offered an axmhefor its

decision that runs counter to the evidence before the agency, or is so implausibleothidtriot

be ascribed to a difference in view oe throduct of agency expertise.Cablevision Sys. Corp.

v. FCC, 649 F.3d 695, 714 (D.Cir. 2011) (quotingviotor Vehicle Mfrs. Assh of United

States, Incv. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 Uab43; accordAgape Church, Inc. v.

FCC, 738 F.3d 397, 410 (D.Cir. 2013). Just as the Court may not “substitute [its] judgment

for that of theagency” to set aside an agency actiRaral Cellular Ass’n v. FCC, 588 F.3d

1095, 1105 (D.CCir. 2009), it also may not “affirm an agency decision on a ground other than

that relied upon by the agency.” Manin v. Nat'| Transp. Safety Bd., 627 F.3d 1239, 1243 (D.C.

Cir. 2011).

IV. DISCUSSION
A. Atrticle 1l Standing
NMFS first asserts that Oceana lacks standing to challenge the 2012 BiOp
Although Oceana has proffered the declarations of two of its membuensc-maintain that they
enjoy the study and observation of loggerheads and therefore would be injured by harm to the
species caused by interactions with Seallop Fishery— NMFS contends that because the

“action area” does not extend to the specific North Carolinian island on which thoseadexc!

10



observe sea turtles, they cannot demonstrate a causal connection betwedretharastheir
asserted injuriesSeeNMFS Opp. & MSJ at 19-20dMFS Reply a2-3*
“Article Ill of the Constitution limits federatourt jurisdiction to ‘Cases’ and

‘Controversies.” Massachusetts v. ERA49 U.S. 497, 516 (2007). The requirement of

standing flows from this limitationLujan v. Defenders ddVildlife, 504 U.Sat560. Standing

doctrine assures that “the litigant is entitled to have the court decide the meritslisptite or

of particular issuesWarth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 498 (1975), by demanding that he or she

“possess a ‘direct stake in the outcome’ of the cabllingsworth v. Perry, 133 S. Ct. 2652,

2662 (2013) (quoting Arizonans for Official English v. Arizona, 520 U.S. 43, 64 (1997)).

To possess standing, a plaintiff must have suffered an “injury in fact,” meaning
“an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and paigedlaand (b) actual

or imminent, not conjectural or hypotheticaLujan v. Defenders of Wdlife, 504 U.S. at 560

(internal citations and quotation marks omitted). In addition, “there must be & causaction
between the injury and the conduct complained of . . . [and] it must be likely, as opposed to
merely speculative, that the injury wilke redressed by a favorable decisiolul’ at 560-61
(internal citations and quotation marks omitte&n organizational plaintiff, such as Oceana,
“may have standing to sue on its own behalf ‘to vindicate whatever rights and inas timéi
associationtself may enjoyor, under proper conditions, to sue on behalf of its members

asserting the membeéiadividual rights? Common Cause v. Fed. Election Comm’n, 108 F.3d

413, 417 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (quoting Warth v. Seldin, 422 @tS$11)> When “an organization

4 The 2012 BiOp defines traction areas “the area to be directly and indirectly

affected by the scallop fishery,” which is “the area in which the scallop fisiparateS SAR

13137.
> Oceana asserts each of these forms of stardifgrganizational” and

“representational™— both of which are contested by NMFS. Because the Court concludes that

11



sues on behalf of its members, the organization must demon&iats members would
otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (b) the interests it seeksetti pretgermane
to the organization’s purpose; and (c) neitierclaim asserted nor the relief requested requires

the participation of individual members in the lawstitid. (quoting_ Hunt v. Wash. State Apple

Adver. Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977)).

Oceana’swo declarants— Erica Grantmyre and Emily Fisher observe and
study loggerheads on Bald Helathnd which lies off the coast of North Carolirfa.Ms.
Grantmyre lives on Bald Head Island and volunteers with the Bald Head Islaneh@mty.
Declaration of Erica Grantmyre (“Grantmyre Decl[f) 23 [Dkt. No. 9341]. While
volunteering, she monitoend excavates loggerhead nedts.14-6. Ms. Grantmyrstates
that she would be “injured,” “devastated,” and “upset,” if she “were unable to monitor or
excavate nests on Bald Head Island because loggkskedurtles had gone extinct or their
populations were so depleted that they would not return to the isEd;éll asf members of
the public such as her ovgnandchildren were “unable to observe the nests and baby turtles as a
result of depletion in the turtles’ populationd. 1 11, 13. She notes that she alredis
observed “females arriving to nest whaseapaces are severely denteghd opines that “[i]

appears that these injuries have occurred from boat propellers or other dpaignyest.”

Oceana has standing to challenge the BiOp on behalf of two of its members, it deasmdhe
guestion whether Oceana would have standing to pursue this action on its own behalf.

6 NMFS initially argues that because Oceana’s declarations “were executed in
2010, [they] thus fail to provide any evidence of the declarants’ present or plannedigeof
areas frequented by sea turtles.” NMFS Opp. & MSJ at 19. In response tguheat,
Oceanaassubmittednew declarationsirtually identicalto the earlier ones -executedand
updated by the declarants in 2013aleng with its reply brief.SeeOceana Reply at-2 n.2;see
alsoNMFS Reply 2 n.3 (acknowledging Oceana’s submission of updated declarations). The
Court refers to the versions of these declarations that were executed in 2013.

12



Id. 10. Similarly, Ms. Fisher’s family owns a home on Bald Head Island that she plans to
continuevisiting “on a yearly basis,where she “derive[s] great pleasure from observing the
nesting and hatching of loggerhead turtles and from witnedsamg interact with their natural
environment.” Declaration of Emily Fisher Fisher Decl.”){ 12[Dkt. No. 93-2]. Ms. Fisher
states that shwould be “devastated” if she were “unable to withness a mature loggerhead turtle
nesting or a nest hatching because the sea turtles had gone extinct or thatrqropals so
depleted that they would not return to the islanid.” 13.

These declarains from two of Oceana’s members are sufficient to ground

Oceana’s standing to challenge the 2012 BiSgeln re Navy Chaplaincy, 697 F.3d 1171, 1178

(D.C. Cir. 2012). The Supreme Court has repeatedly made clear that injury to an aesthetic
interest inthe observation of animals is sufficient to satisfy the demands of Atiskahding”

Animal Legal Defense Fund, Inc. @lickman 154 F.3d 426, 432 (D.C. Cir. 199@n banc)

Oceana’s declarantdaim injury to this interestand theyallege a “fairly traceable” connection
betweertheirinjury and he ScallopFishery’s operation — a connectitiratis supported by the
administrative recordlt is undisputed that the operation of the Atlantic Sea Scallop Fishery
leads to the deatiof loggerhead sea turtlesthin the NWA DPS and thathoseloggerheads
nesting orBald Headslandare members of this specific population of turtl8gee e.qg, SAR
13145-46, 13149-50, 13267-68. Consequently, loggerhead takes resulting from tise BiOp
allegedinfirmities could lead directly to the injuries asserted by Ms. Grantmyre and Ms. Fisher.
And, for this reason, Oceana’s challenge to the BiOp’s adequoadg, if successful, redress
these injuries

NMFS argues that Oceana reliesthie “animal nexus’theory of standing that

wasrejectedoy theSupreme Court ibujan, but this argument is unpersuasividhe Lujan Court

13



characterzed thisdiscredited approacdsmaintainingthat“anyone who observes or works with
an endangerejdr threat@med] speciesanywhere in the worlds appreciably harmed by a single
project affectingsome portiorof that species with which he has no more specific connection.”

Lujanv. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. at 567 (emplsaadded) Here, by contrasi/is.

Grantmyre and Ms. Fisher state that they statyobserve loggerheads who belong to the
specificpopulation segment thataslverselyaffected by thétlantic Sea Scallop Fisheryrhis

is sufficient to support standinggeeJapan Whaling Ass’n v. Aerican Cetacean So¢'¢78

U.S. 221, 230 n.4 (1986) (whale conservation groups had standing betteustdle watching
and studying of their members will be adversely affected by continued whaéstiag) ;

Defenders of Wildlife v. Gutierre 532 F.3013, 92325 (D.C. Cir. 2008)laintiffs, having

proffered declarations from individuals wherigage in whale watching and the studying of
whales; had standing to challenge agency actiomscerning the qotection of right whales from

mortalitiescausedy ship strikesjciting Japan Whaling Ass’n v. American Cetacean Soc'y, 478

U.S.at230 n.4).

The Court also rejectdMFS'’ related assertiothat“Oceana errs in focusing on
the range of the species rather than the action area defined in the 2012 BMIpS'Reply at 3
& n.4; seealsoNMFS Opp. & MSJ at 19-20. $¥0ceana’s counselemonstratedt oral
argument, Bald Head Island lies a mere 100 miles south of the lower boundary shtrg.Fi
Loggerheads that nest on Bald Head, therefore, quickdy #m Fishery jpon leaving their
nesting sitegnd spend much of the year traversing the Fishery before eventually returning to
their nests the following yeaAnd as Oceana persuasively explainsf ‘diturtle is killed off the
coast of Long Island ors way to itsnesting beach in North Carolina, a resident of North

Carolina would plainly suffer an injury when the turtle does not appear at its norriagjnes

14



site’ Oceana Reply at SNMFS’ decision to circumscribe the scope of the action éoea,
purposes of its Section 7 consultatiomthe area in which thscallop Fishery operates has no
bearing on theonstitutional principlesf injury in fact, causation, and redressability that govern
this Court’s standing inquiry. Moreover, NMFS fditsacknowledge that the relevant injury
here is not injury to loggerheads, but, rather, injury to the plaintiffs’ membershd~masons
just explained, Ms. Grantmyre and Ms. Fisher each would have standing to chdlk2§a2
BiOp.

Oceana musdlso show thathe interests it seeks to protect by this lawsuit are
germane tats organizational purpose, and thaeither the claim asserted nor the relief
requested requires the participatioh Ms. Grantmyre or Ms. Fisher as individuaSeeHunt v.

Wash. State Apple Adver. Comm’n, 432 U.S. at 3%Bese two elements are easily satisfied.

The protection of marine life is central to the organization’s pur@ogkthe litigation of this
challenge to the 2012 BiOp does not require the participation of Oceana’s individubéraem
nor would the relief requested implicate Ms. Grantmyre or Ms. Fistendually. The Court

therefore concludes that Oceana Aggcle Il standing to pursue this action.

B. Is NMFS’Interpretation of 50 C.F.R. § 402.02 Arbitrary and Capricious?
Oceana’s principal argumeistthat NMFS, in determining whether tBeallop
Fishery would “jeopardize the continued existence of” loggerhedts the NWA DPS e 16
U.S.C. 8§ 1536(a)(2), applied an unlawful constructiotheflegulation that defines thvotal
statutory phrase. The regulation at issue provideshbaitatutory phrase “[jJeopardize the
continued existence of” means

to engage in an action that reasonably would beaegedirectly
or indirectly, to reduce appreciably the likelihood of both the
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survival and recovery of a listed species in the wild by reducing the
reproduction, numbers, or distribution of that species.

50 C.F.R. § 402.02. In the 2008 BiOp, NMFS indicated that it constineet#grm “reduce
appreciably” to mean that there becarisiderableor materialreductionin the likelihood of
survival and recoveryof the species, Se&R 16839-40 (emphases added). Although the 2012
BiOp pointedly declines to restate this definitiseeSAR 13116, Oceana contends that NMFS
has again required a “considerable” or “material” reduction in the likelihoazgefrheads’
survival and recoverylt argueghatsuchconstructiorof the regulatia contravenes the plain
text of the regulation as well as tlamguage and purpose of the Endangered Speciatsal€t
resulting in an erroneous determination that the Fishery is not likely to jeopéndi continued
existence of th&lWA DPSof loggerhads

Although the 2012 BiOp does natplicitly define “reduce appreciahfyOceana
infers thatNMFS’ analysisn the 2012 BiOgmployed the same standardtdsadapplied in the
2008 BiOp,where NMFS diddefinetheregulatory languagas requiring dconsiderable’or
“material reduction in order to trigger a finding of jeopardgeeOceanaSJ at 12, 17-18 &
n.13 OceandaReply at 67. NMFS appeardo concede that €ana’s inference is accurate. See
NMFS Opp. & MSJ at 25-26 (“NMFS does not dispute that the underlying approach to the
jeopardy analysis in the 2012 BiOp was largely the same as that in the 2008;BtDpt 26
(“In both[BiOps], the agency considered the impact of takes from the fishery on the future
suwival and recovery of the species, and whether any difference was both cdjisiego
consideredind meaningful from a biological perspectiy§emphasis added)Thus, despite
NMFS’ decision not to define “reduce appreciably” in #4.2 BiOp the partieseemto agree
thatNMFS applied a construction of the phréisat aligns with the definition that it articulated

in the 2008 BiOp. Accordingly, contrary to the suggestion of intervenor-defelRridheties
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Survival FundseeFSF MSJ at 24 n.1 FSF Reply at AOceana’s challenge the propriety of

this constructiomf the regulation is not modt.

1. Consistency with Regulatory Text
Oceana argues that tlemguage of 50 C.F.R. § 402.02 is unambiguous and that
NMFS’ interpretation of its key phrase “reduce appreciably= is plainly inconsistent with

the regulatory textAccording to Oceana, the word “appreciably” means “capable of being
perceived’ or measured.” Oceana MSJ at 24 (QuaBEESTER S THIRD NEW INT'L

DICTIONARY 105 (1993)). Thus, says Oceana, NMFS has unlawfully imported a heightened
requirement that any reduction in the likelihood of loggerheads’ survival and recovery be
“considerable” or “materidl rather than simply being perceptibligl. at24-26; Oceana Reply at
9-10. And Oceana contentiat if the regulation’s text is construed according to its ordinary
meaning, “there can be no question that . . . the Fishery will cause an ‘appieediot&éon in
Loggerheads,” given the evidence in tldenénistrative record OceanaViSJ at 25 seealsoid. at
17 (stating that NMFS applied “the same definition in 2012 that it had invented in 2008;
otherwise, it could not have found that the Fishery would not” cause jeop@abgna Reply at

12-13. NMFS and FSF both maintain that the agency’s interpretation of its own myidati

consonant with the regulatory text, and titginterpretatiortherefores entitled to deference

! By contras, the Court does find mo@ceana’s requests for relief that relate

specifically to the 2008 BiOpSeeAm. Compl., Prayer for Relief 11 (1), (5Yhe 2008 BiOp is

no longer in force, having been superseded by the 2012 BiOp. NMFS Opp. & MSJ asg&-22;
American Rivers v. Nat'| Marine Fisheries Serd26 F.3d 1118, 1123-24 (9th Cir. 199¢\W
BiOp generally renders moot any challenges to thielitsaof its predecessor).
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from this Court. NMFS Opp. & MSJ at 29-3MFS Reply ab-8, FSF MS) at25-31; FSF
Reply at7-9.2

“An agency’s interpretation of its own regulations is entitled to ‘substantial
deference’ and is giveigontrolling weight unless it is plainly erroneous or inconsistent with the

regulation.” ShieldalloyMetallurgical Corp. v. Nuclear Regulatory Comm’n, 768 F.3d 1205,

1208 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (quoting Thomas Jefferson Univ. v. Shalala, 512 U.S. 504, 512 (1994));

seeAuer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452 (1993¢ealsoChristensen v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 576,

588 (2000) Auer deference warranted only where regulation is ambigudu$gderal court will
temper this measure of deferepbewever, where the agency’s interpretation of its own
ambiguous regulationconflicts with a prior interpretatioror when it appears that the
interpretation is nothing more than a convenient litigating posiioa,post hoc rationalizafio
advanced by an agency seeking to defend past agency action against attackoph@hnns

SmithKline Beecham Corpl32 S. Ct. 2156, 2166-67 (2012) (citations and internal quotation

marks omitted) (alteration in original)Where a court finds reason not to afford the normally
strong degree of deference to an agen@gsilatory interpretatignt “instead accord[s] the
[agency’s]interpreation a measure of deference proportional to the ‘thoroughness evident in its
consideration, the validity of its reasoning, its consistency with eanlcelader pronouncements,

and all those factors which give it power to persuadiel.”at 2168-69 (quiing United States v.

Mead Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 228 (2001)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

8 NMFS also contends that the Court need not reach this question at all, given

evidence in the administrative record that, according to NMFS, demonstratesrdutness of

its nojeopardy determination even under Oceana’s preferred construction of théioag8ae

NMFS Opp. & MSJ at 26-29; NMFS Reply at 5-6. The Court is not persuaded that the record is
so unequivocal on this point that it obviates the need to resolve the parties’ dispUN&&&Er
regulatory interpretation.
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The Court concludes th&tMFS’ construction othe phraséreduce appreciably”
does not contravene thext of 50 C.F.R. § 402.02, which, contrary to Oceana’s contentidar, is
from unambiguous. As note@ceana relies oWebster'dor the “common dictionary
definition” of “appreciable” as meaning “capable of being perceived or measureddn®MSJ
at15, 24° Butas NMFS points ouseeNMFS Repy at 7 n.10, this is not the onbvailable
definition of the word. SeeTHE NEw OXFORD AMERICAN DICTIONARY 1724 (2d ed. 2005)
(“Something that is appreciable is lagygough to be measured, valued, estimatedpnsidered

significant”) (emphasis addedboldface type omittedif. United States v. Well¥06 F.3d 908,

915 (8th Cir. 2013) (referring to “the purchase of an appreciable amount of; @bs/ih Corp.

v. Savin Group, 391 F.3d 439, 456 (2d Cir. 2004) (test for trademark infringement asksrwheth

an “appreciableumber of ordinarily prudent purchasers” are likely to be misled or confused)

Scott v. Hubert, Civil Action No. 08-1EJRSCR, 2012 WL 3016244, at *4 (M.D. La. May 14,

2012) (referring to “appreciable time in prison”) MRS therefores within the bounds of its
discretion to construne word “appreciablyas entailingmore than a bare reduction in the
likelihood of loggerheads’ survival and recovery to result in a finding of jeop&dther, the
agency codruesits regulationto dford its scientists thdiscretion to determine whethamgiven
reduction in those likelihoods tmeaningful from a biological perspectiveNMFS Opp. &
MSJ at26. This construction is neither plainly erroneous nor inconsisiémthe regulatory
text, which, instead of commanding only one interpretation, is ambiguous.

Although an agency'’s interpretation of an ambiguous regulation generally
receives substantial deference, Oceana conteatlNMFS’ interpretatiorof “reduce

appreciably’does not metisuchdeferencdecause it conflicts with a prior interpretation

o Appreciably, as the adverbial form of appreciable, genedaks not enjoy its

own dictionary entry. Accordingly, Oceana cites the definition for the adgectot the adverb.
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employed by the agency. Specifically, Oceana points to materials createdfigh and
Wildlife Serviceand used by NMFS to traits Section 7 biologists, in whiclappreciable” is
defined to mean “capable of beipgrceived,” and “[m]easaable, detectable, perceptibile.
Oceana MSJ &5. NMFS responds by noting that its preferred interpretation of “appreciably” is
consistent witltheinterpretation gively FWS and NMFS to a legedregulation under the
ESA an interpretatiothat isset forth in the agencies’ shafeddangered Species Consultation
Handbook SeeNMFS Opp. & MSJ at 30 n.9; NMFS Reply at 8 n.11 (noting that the agencies
interpret “appreciably diminish the value of’tazal habitat as “to considerably reduce the
capability” of the habitat to support the specid$MFS alsocontendghat even if its definition
of “appreciably” is vieweds a departure from the interpretation provided in the FWS training
materialsthe explanation provided in the 2008 BiOp “reasonably explained that departure.”
NMES Opp. & MSJ at 30 n.9.

The Court need noesolve this conflict regarding the applicabildfyAuer
deferencen these circumstances, because even under a lessntiefesandardseeChristopher

v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 132 S. Ct. at 2168M9FS has the more sound reading of the

regulation. Oceana insists that an “appreciable” reduction means any “perceptible” reduction in
the likelihood of loggerheads’ survival and recovery. But this approaclasgganctionfrom

the word “appreciable,” which modifies the verb “reducAri imperceptibleeduction in the
likelihood of loggerheads’ survival and recovery wolbddnvisible, and thus indistinguishable

from a finding of no reduction at allt is a basic rule afextualconstruction that each word

should be given meaningeeNat’| Ass’n of Home Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.S.

at668-69 (applying canon against surplusage in interpretation of regulation). The Court

therefore agrees witHMFS that its construction of “appreciablig’morein accord withthe text
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of the regulatiorthan is the approach advocated by Oce@eeNMFS Reply at 78. And this
conclusion is in line with the reading given to this languagéWinth Circuit, whichhas
recognizedhatthe word appreciable, as employed in 50 C.F.R. § 40&r(}ficatessame
measure of thextentof a reduction in species’ likelihood of survival and recov&geWild

Fish Conservancy v. Salazar, 628 F.3d 513, 523 (9th Cir. 20M8@r€ could beomempact,

but not arappreciableimpact, in each of several subdivided periods of operation that, in

cumulation, have an undeniably appreciable impamphases added). In re Consolidated

Salmonid Case¥91 F. Supp. 2d 802, 872-73 (E.D. Cal. 2011) (inquiry under related provision

of ESA iswhether record demonstratdat agency actiofwill have a significant (i.e.,
appreciable or considerabie)pact on the critical habitat” of listed spegies

Finally, Oceana argug¢satNMFS’ interpretation of “reduce appreciably” leads
the agency to ignore thaskery’s effects on thieggerheat likelihood ofrecoveryfrom its
threatened status- as opposetherelyto its survival — in contravention of the regulatisn
mandateo consider both survival and recoveryrRetovery means impvement in the status of
listed species to the point at which listing is no longer appropriate under thia cetieout in
[the ESA]” 50 C.F.R. § 402.020ceana emphasizes that the plain language afothizolling
regulation requires NMFS tassessvhether thd=ishery’s operation “reasonably would be
expected . . to reduce appreciably the likelihoodooththe survivaland recovery of
loggerheads in theWA DPS. 50 C.F.R. § 402.02 (emphases addéd)cording to Oceandin
considering the efféof the Fishery based on material orcorsiderable’reduction in chances
of survival using tests oftatistical significancéthe Fisheries Service ignored the impact of the
Fishery on Loggerheads’ recoveéryOceana MSJ at 28eealsoOceana Replytd 6 (“The

Fisheries Service’s interpretatidoes not even require it to consider recovery impacts . . . .").
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The Court agrees with Oceana that the agency must addregbdethvival and recovery
prospects of the loggerheaBut its argumenbased on that premise extends no further than the
conclusory statementhat the Court has quoted aboWdhere is some logic to itsontention
thatNMFS’ construction of “reduce appreciably” necessarily reads “recovery” dbeof
regulation, Oceana dseotelucidate thalinkage.

Nor is the Court persuaded by Oceamalatedcontention, advanced in its reply
brief, that the agency’s analysis of the Fishery’s effect on loggerheamds/ary prospects is
“perfunctory,” and, ireffect no different than its analysis of the Fishery’s effects on survival.
SeeOceana Reply at-20. The BiOp includes a fairly extensive discussion of regawmpacts
centered orthe recovery criteria established in the 2008 Recovery Plan for the Northwest
Atlantic Population of the Loggerhead Sea TurtBeeSAR 13148-49, 13265-68NMFS
specificallyfindsin the BiOpthatinteractions between loggerheads andrisbery will not
lessen the species’ genetic heterogeneityS#de 13268, and it furthetetermins that the
continued operation of thadhery will not affect two of the loggerheaastcovery criteria— the
number of nests and nesting females, and trends in abundance on foraging grousdsh-ato
extent thathere would be an appreciable reduction in their likelihood of recovery. SAR 13270.
NMFES concludes that the “proposed action would not impede progress on carrying out any
aspect of the recovery program or achieving the overall recovatggy.” Id. Thus,NMFS has
identified the reasons underlying its conclusion that the likelihood of loggerhreadsery
would not be appreciably reduced by the operation of the Fistwedyit has articulated a rational

connection between these reasonsthatconclusion. This is all that the APA require$.

10 Oceanauts forth an additional argument that appears prifigifaits reply

brief, contending that thegency’suse of statistical significance testsby way of its reliance
on a technical papathe Population Viability Analysis— “elevatesstatistical certainty above the
obligation to protect Loggerheads frortians thareasonably cate expectetb reduce their
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2. Consistency with the Endangered Species Act
Oceana contends that even “if [NMFR&Jrrectly construed its regulation, then it
impermissibly construed the Endangered Species Act beffdHeS’] interpretation inverts its
conservation mandate under tetdtute, conflicting with it$ext, structure, and purpose.”

Oceana MSJ at 23eeStinson v. United States, 508 U.S. 36, 47 (19®Bg1pretation of

regulation may not “run afoul of the Constitution or a federal statute”). Oceanauijgests
thatthe ESA’s mandate- requiringfederal agencie® “insure that any action authorized,
funded, or carried out by [tregency]. . . is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of
any|listed species]— means that NMFS must concluithat jeopardy isikely where the action
under review causes any perceptible reduction in the likelihood of a species’ lsamdva
recovery It therefore arguethatNMFS’ interpretation of “reduce appreciably= which
reaches only “considerable” or “material’ reductiergs out of step with the plain language of
Section 7 of thetatute Oceana MSJ at 28. More specifically, Oceana maintaingahan
agency action to “jeopardize the continued existence of” a listed speciestit@naust only

cause “some deterioration in the species‘aron condition.”Id. (quotingNat’l Wildlife

Federation v. NMFES, 524 F.3d 917, 930 (9th Cir. 2p(0jernal quotation marks omitted).

Oceana’s only support for thisxtual argument is the Ninth Circuit’'s decision in

Nat’l Wildlife Federation v. NMFS But Oceana has presented the languddleat opinion out

of context. TheNinth Circuitthere was explaining that the word “jeopardize” indicates an
element of causation, meanitigat even if background conditionfglready lave] placgd] a
species in jeopardythe agency action under reviégan only ‘jeopardize’ a specieskistence

if that agency actionausesomedeteriorationin the speciespre-action conditiori. Nat'l

likelihood of survival and recovery.Oceana Reply at 1(emphasis addedparaphrasing0
C.F.R. 8 402.02). The Court is unpersuaded that the regulatory language requires NMFS to
forego use ofhiscommon statistical tool
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Wildlife Federation v. NMFS, 524 F.3d at 930 (emphasis added). The Ninth Circuit was not

addressing the issue presented here, namely whethes may consider thextentof any such
deterioratioras a factor idetermining whether the action is likely to jeopardiee species
continued existence. Thus, the Court does not agre€Deghna’s suggestion that the ESA’s
plain language is unambiguous eguating “jeopardize the continued existence” with any degree
of reduction in the likelihood of a species’ survival and recovery. To the contrastathtory
textsimply does not speak directly to the question of how jeopardy to a species’ continued
existence is to be assessed

Oceandurtherargues thaNMFS’ approach contravenes ttesignand purpose
of the ESA. Oceana MSJ 28-3Q Oceana Reply at 186. The Supreme Court has emphasized
that the statute “language, history, and structure . . . indicates beyond doubt that Congress

intended endangered species to be affotdedhighest of priorities Tenn. Valley Auth. vHill,

437 U.S. at 174According to Ocean®MFS’ interpretation of 50 C.F.R. § 402.0givVes‘the
benefit of the doubt’ to the actionptthe species.” Oceana MSJ3& (quotinganguage that
originated ina House Conference ReporSuch an approackays Oceandyould permit
Loggerheads to be ‘gradually destroyed, so long as each step on the path to desruction i

sufficiently modest.” Id. (quotingNat'l Wildlife Federation v. NME$S524 F.3d at 930). In

essencat seemsQOceana maintains that beca@engress intended the ESA to weigh heavily in
favor of speciesprotection— and adlNMFS'’ interpretation of “reduce appreciably” could lead
to more harmo a speciethan wouldOceana’s approach- NMFS’ construction of the
regulation must contravertbe statute.

But just because Oceana’s approaty bemore protectivehan the agency’s

does not mean th&tMFS’ interpretation of 50 C.F.R. § 402.02 — and, in turn, its construction
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of “jeopardize the continued existence of”is+n conflict with the Endangered Species Act
NMFS, as an expert agency charged with administering the ESA, may reasmaidlidethat a
givenagency action, although likely to reduce the likelihood of a species’ survivateovery
to some degreayould not be likely to jeopardize the continued existence of the spedies. O
coursethis does not mean thAtMFS hasunfettered discretion to pernahydegree of reduction
in the likelihood of a species’ survival and recoveny.algiven caséd\MFS’ determination that
aparticularreduction is not “material” malye unreasonable in light of the data on which the

agency relied, and therefore arbitrary and caprici@eeMotor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of United

States, Incv. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. at 43. The Court cannot say, however,

thatNMFS’ readingof “jeopardize the continued existence ofirisonsistent with the ESA
The statute does not define how the concept is to be measured, and thetagefanghas
discretion to makéhis determinatioron the basis of its own expertise.
C. Isthe 2012 BiOp’s Ndeopardy Determination
Arbitrary and Capricious foOtherReasons?

Apart from Oceana’s focus MMMFS’ interpretatiorof the words‘reduce
appreciably’ Oceana levelsther attacksgainsthe agency’s ngeopardy determinationThe
Court first considers Oceana’s contention that NMFS did not adequately accountétiedo-
“‘cumulative effects” and “aggregate effecis’conducting its jeopardy analysis. Next, the €ou
examines Oceana&gument that NMFSpecificallyfailed to consider thpotentialeffects of
climate changeThis latter argument is made in the contexa bfoader claim relating to
Oceana’'submission of comments to NMFS, which, Oceana says, the agency igomesha’s
commentsvere offered during the Section 7 consultation that led to issuance of the 2008 BiOp,

pursuant to a stipulation between the parties in the civil action involving Ocelalienge to
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the 2006 BiOp In its commentceandighlighted the potential effects of climate chaonge
loggerheadssurvival and recoveryAccording to Ocean®MFS’ failure to incorporate serious
consideration of climate change in the 2012 BiOp constitutes a violation of thatsbipuas

well as a violation of the agencyssatutoryduty to“use the best scientific and commercial data

available”in formulating the BiOp.Seel6 U.S.C8 1536((2).

1. Cumulative Effectand Aggregate Effest

Oceana maintains that the BiOp is arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law
because it fails to take account ofcadled (1) “cumulative effects” and (2) “aggregate affects.”

The term “cumulative effectss defined in the regulations &bose dfects of
future State or private activities, not involving Federal activities, that arenadagaertain to
occur within the action area of the Federal action subject to itaien.” 50 C.F.R. § 402.02.
In formulating its Biological OpinioMNMFS is obligated to determine “whether the action,
taken together with cumulative effedsslikely to jeopardize the continued existence of listed
species.” 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(g)(4) (emphasis added). Oceana contends that NMFS ignored
these effects in perfoiimg its jeopardy analysisSeeOceana MSJ at 381.

The term “aggregate effects’ not found in the regulations. Oceana draws the
termfrom theEndangered Species Consultation Handb@blandbook”), which NMFS and
FWS both use to guide their performance of Section 7 consultations under the ESA. The
Handbook states that a jeopardy determination is reached by assessing “thectiggrregate
effects of the factors analyzed under [1] ‘rammental baseline,’ [2] ‘effects of the action,” and
[3] ‘cumulative effects’ in the action area when viewed against the status of the species ... —

are likely to jeopardize the continued existence of the spedgs(fjuoting Handbook at 4-33
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(AR 2,277).** Oceana employs the term “aggregate effects” in two ways. First, Oceana uses
the term*aggregate effectsto refer specifically to the impact of more than 600 loggerhead takes
that NMFS has authorized to occur in other federally regulatedifsherbesides the Scallop
Fishery— which, says Oceana, the agency failed to consider in reachingjaéspardy
determination in the 2012 BiO. Second, Oceana invokes the concepegftegate effectso
advance droader methodological point, arguiticat NMFS evaluated the Scallop Fishery’s
effects in isolation, rather than in conjunction with the other factors identified negéations
as contributors to jeopardyeeOceana MSJ at 381. Thus, claims Oceana, no matter how dire
the straits faed by the loggerhead due to the myriad factors that harm the species, NMFS will
conclude that the Scallop Fishery does not cause jeopardy so long as the numbercatisddes
by the Scallop Fishergloneare not “too much.”Seeid. (quoting SAR 13264).

NMFS maintains that it did account for the cumulative effettsture state and

private actions that affect loggerheads, as well as for the impact of theéhaor@00 loggerhead

1 The regulation provides:Effects of the actiorefers to the direct and indirect

effects of an action on the species or critical habitat, together with tlo¢sedfeother activities

that are interrelated or interdependent with that action, that will be added twitoemental
baseline.Theenvionmental baselinencludes the past and present impacts of all Federal, State,
or private actions and other human activities in the action area, the anticipatets iofzl
proposed Federal projects in the action area that have already undergone feamlgl section

7 consultation, and the impact of State or private actions which are contemporaneolis with t
consultation in procesdndirect effectsare those that are caused by the proposed action and are
later in time, but still are reasonably carteo occur. Interrelated actionsre those that are part

of alarger action and depend on the larger action for their justificalidardependent actions

are those that have no independent utility apart from the action under consideration.”R50 C.F
§ 402.02 (emphases added).

12 These take&all within the scope of the “environmental baseline,” which, as noted
supra note 11,ificludes the past and present impacts of all Federal, State, or private aalions an
other human activities in the action area, the anticipated impacts of all prépexteal projects
in the action area that have already undergone formal or early sectmsultation, and the
impact of State or private actions which are contemporaneous with the consultatmeesspr
See50 C.F.R. § 402.02.
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takes caused by other federally authorized fisheries NB¥& Opp. & MSJat31-34 NMFS
Reply at 1112. NMFS also disputes Oceana’s contention that the agency erroneously evaluated
the Scallop Fishery’s impact on loggerheads in isolation, rather than in conjunctioheawith t
effects of the other factors identified in the regulations as contributors taggopdMFS
maintains that its analysis of whether the effects of Scallop Fishery takeggemHeads’
survival and recovery are “too much” occurs “in the context of” those other factoreetat
in the regulations, includg cumulative effects and the effects of takes caused by other federally
authorized fisheriesSeeNMFS Opp. & MSJat 3234; NMFS Reply at 11-12.

To support these assertions, NMFS points to various sections of thBigfi2
that set 6rth narrative discussioms the factors that Oceana has accused it of failing to consider.
With respect to cumulative effects, Section 7 of the BiOpntitledCumulative Effects—
identifies several future private and state activities affecting loggerhaallgling fidhing
activities in state waters; the travels of seagoing vessels, which can callideaturtles; and
human-caused pollution and contamination of the environng@&dSAR 13259-61 NMFS
states, however, that it lacks quantitative information regarding how manyheggermight be
negatively affected by these factarsd thereforassumes therto be consistent with previous
trends.ld. And with respect to the effects of other federally authorized fisheries, tiorsé®f
the BiOp —entitledEnvironmental Baseline—- NMFS presents information on these fisheries
and the extent of takes occurring in thefeeSAR 1320810. NMFS includes a table that lists
estimated loggerhead takes for a number of fisheries that recently haveomed®egtiory
consultations, including the specific fisheries that Oce#ea in its motion, which together
account for610 takes, of which 254re expected to be fatal. SeAR 13210. It is evident, then,

that NMFS was aware @ind discussethose factors that Oceana has accused it of failing to
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consider. Indeed, Oceana does not point to any additional data that NMFS should have had in its
sights. Rather, Oceana contends that in conducting its jeopardy andiMEiS,did not actually
considerthe information regarding cumulative effects and the impact of takes iogcumrother
federally authorized fisheries.

If NMFS had done nothing more than to list and describe data that it purported to
incorporate into its jeopardy analysis — without indicating how thiat aetually factors into the
analysis— the Court might welhave found the BiOp deficient for such opaci8eeTex Tin

Corp. v. U.S. EPA, 935 F.2d 1321, 1324 (D.C. Cir. 1991) (per curiam) (court “cannot defer to

agency expertise that was never explaine&t the BiOp offers more than this; when read as a
whole, the BiOp features sufficient explicationNiVIFS’ reasoning in reaching its neepardy
determination— as well as sufficient indication of its consideration of cumulative effectsre
impad of other fishery takes — to satisfy its burden under the Administrative Procedure Ac
NMFS’ no-jeopardy determination appears to be centered largely on its
identification of four populatiotevel characteristics of tHéorthwest Atlantic Distinct
Paoulation Segment of loggerheads: a large nesting population; a nesting populati®n tha
geographically widespread; a nesting population trend that recently has beem, deit!
which now appears to be stabilizing; and the fact that “substantial conservéditsmaze
underway to address threats” to loggerheads’ survival and recdseeBAR 13158, 13276°
The BiOp cites a variety of data sources in support of its identification of femetsees. With
respect to population size, the BiOp relies primarily oestimate that places the adult female
population in the NWA DPS at about 30,50eeSAR 13151, 13264. NMFS also cites other

estimates, including a “much less robust” estimate of the total female populatioarthes

13 These are the sanf@ctors relied upoby NMFSin its decisionto list the NWA
DPS of loggerheads as threatened rather than endan@zeSAR 13158.
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from 60,000 to 700,000 individuals, SAR 13264, as well as a 2011 study drawing on aerial
surveys of the Atlantic coast, which yielded a total population estimate of 588,00thieager
SAR 13151. Regarding nesting trends, NMFS states that “[w]hile seveat@redocuments
reported [aljdecline in nesting numbers in the NWA DPS, when nest counts through 2010 are
analyzed, the nesting trends from 1989-2010 are not significantly different tioeh 3&R

13158. In addition, “[tlhe 2010 Florida index nesting number was the largest since 2000,” and
“[n]esting in the Northwest Atlantic in 2011 was on par with 2010, providing further evidence
that the nesting trend may have stabilized.” SAR 13267.

The essential logic underlyifngMFS’ no-jeopardy determination is that, based on
the currenestimated size of the NWA DPS, its wide dispersion, the seemingly promisetg re
nesting trends, and the ongoing implementation of conservation measures, te stpads
strong enough that the takes caused by the Scallop Fishery are not likelatdip®ofs
continued existenceSeeSAR 13270. And NMFS reaches this conclusion while considering the
Scallop Fishery takes “within the context of” the effects of those factonprising the
environmental baseline and included within cumulative effé8eeSAR 13263. Although
NMFS has not applied a specific quantitative formula to account for all of thetees!, the
agency'’s logic is both discernible and rational: it weighed the impact of Scallogry-takes,
as well as takes caused by other sesy against the four positive attributes that characterize the
NWA DPS of loggerheads, and it concluded that the population’s continued existence would not

be jeopardized by tilse impacts* NMFS’ conclusion, based on the agency’s evaluation of data

14 In a related vein, the BiOgeems to indicaténat thepositive measures of

loggerheads’ population status particularly population size and stabilizing nestirents —
reflectboth cumulative effects and the impact of other fishery takesnulative effects are
assumed to be consistent with prior trends and therefore incorporated into thosesn&agRr
13259-61. \ith respect to takesccurring in other fisheries, the BiOp states that the impacts of
those takes “are reflected in the status and trends of sea turtles” reported elsewteeBQp.
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within its realm of technical expertise, is entitled to substantial deference fro@ollnis See

Communities for a Better Environment v. EPA, 748 F.3d at 336.

In the few pages of briefing that it devotes to its arguments on this @qmena
seems to focus entirely &MFS’ use of théPopulation Viability Analysig“PVA”) . See
Oceana MSJ at 3B1; Oceana Reply at 118. The PVA is aechnical paper relied upon by
NMFES inboth the 2008 and 2012 BiOpgseSAR 13268-70, 13346-7Wwhich“was used to
estimate quasextinction (the point at which so few animals remain that the species/population
will inevitably become extinct) likelihoods under conditions with and without fisaf#egts.”
SAR 13269. Its authoesstablished a baselip@pulation trajetory using the rate of change
the adult femalédoggerhead population from 1989-2005AR 13351 The rate was then
adjusted by adding back thevel of take attributable to the Scallop Fish@gnverted to adult
female equivalents), and-ranning tre PVA. SAR 13269 The results of these two analyses
were compared, and the comparison showed that both the baseline and adjusted baseline (which
imagined a world with no Scallop Fishery takkad quasi-extinction probabilities of zero at 25,

50, and 75 years, and a probability of 1% at 100 yddrs’

SAR 13208. The implicit assumption, then, is that the level of loggerhead takes acicurrin
other federally authorized fisheries is on par with the extent of takes thag¢d@®ccurring in
recent yearsSeeid. Although this point could have been established with better clarity — such
as through an explicit comparison of take numbers occurring in federally authistzeries

during the years from which NMFS draws its population trdsitd as against those projected to
occur in the present and coming years — this lack of precision is not fatal to the 8©

Colorado River Cutthroat Trout v. Salazar, 898 F. Supjat264-05 (A] court should ‘uphold

a decision of less than ideal clarity if the agency’s padly reasonably be discerned,” as it may
be here.) (quoting Building Industry Ass’n of Superior Cal. v. Babbitt, 979 F. Supp. 893, 898
(D.D.C. 1997)).

15 Oceana focuses on another finding produced by the PVA’s model, namely that the

“median time to quasextinction” was predicted to be sooner (207 years versus 240 years) with
Fishery takes compared to a world without theédeeOceana MSJ at 16; Oceana Reply-a409

12, 14-15 & n.14, 180ceana states thiis finding shows that the Fishery will “hasten
Loggerheads’ demise by 33 years.” Oceana Reply at 14 n.14. In actualibedta time to
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According to Oceana, “[b]y adopting the PVA model from the 2008 BiOp, the
2012 BiOp . . . lumped together cumulative impact, the status of the species, and the
environmental baseline to establsinew baselinagainst which the effects of the Fishery were
analyzed.” Oceana MSJ at 30. This approach, says Oceana, has the effectraf thelati
Scallop Fishery’s impacts from those of other sources of harm to loggert&said. at 30-31.
But a Sectia 7 consultation must determine whether the specific agency action under review
actually causes some additional harm to the species, beyond that which tese s@scsuffer

due to other factorsSeeNat’l Wildlife Federation v. NMF$S524 F.3cat 930 The PVA singled

out the Scallop Fishery to make such a determination, but this does not mean that the broader
jeopardy analysis does not also account for the impact of cumulative effeche dakiets
occurring in other fisheriesThis is becausthe signifcance of the impact caused by Scallop
Fishery takes will differ depending on the impacts cabseather factors, to which the Fishery’s
impact is addedSeeid. (“[A] n agency may not take action that will tip a species from a state of
precarious survidanto a state of likely extinctionLikewise, even where baseline conditions
already jeopardize a species, an agency may not take action that deepens tthe hyogarsing
additional harnt).

Consequently, if baseline conditions are already diss even a small additional
impact due to Scallop Fishery takes may require a jeopardy determinationVAlse P

methodology is not inconsistent with this framework. MorecaeNMFS emphasizes, the PVA

guasiextinction refers to “[the time when the quasi-extinction probability is 0.50,” SAR 13356
n.3, not to the time when quasi-extinction is predicted to occur. In any event, irti#opret

the PVA’s various measures and the relative weight to be given to each of these different
measures— is a matter that falls within the purview of the expert agency, subject to rexigw

for reasonableness. Contrary to Oceana’s view of the data, the PVA’s authsidered the
median times to quasixtinction with and without Fishery effects to be “similar.” SAR 13357.
And NMFS discounted the value of this finding due to its long distance into an unknown future.
SeeSAR 13116.
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does not constitute the entirety of its analysssex@lained above, the jeopardy determination
rests in large part on the qualitative assessment of population indicatore @stirttated extent
of Scallop Fishery takes, considered in light of tad@surring in other fisheries as well as the
impact of othesources of harm titmggerheadsSeeNMFS Opp. & MSJ at 34. The Court

concludes that NMFS has sufficiently demonstrated its consideration of doéses f

2. Climate Change

In comments subrtted to NMFS pursuant to the Joint StipulataordOrder
entered in Civil Action No. 07-0142ceana urged the agency to consider the effects of climate
change in conducting its jeopardy analysis with respect to the NWA DPS efthaggls.The
2012 BiOp ncludes a separate section entitonate ChangeSAR 13228-33, and the topaf
climate changés discusseth other portions of the BiOas well SeeSAR 13155-57.
Nonetheless, Oceana contends that NMFS has failed to actually consider theotefieotste
change in reachinigs jeopardy determination, and it maintains that this failure violates the
agencys obligation to “use¢he best scientific and commercial data availainldormulating the
BiOp. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2Y. In particular, Oceana argues th¥IFS’ choice to limit the
scope of the actioander review to only ten yeaseeSAR 13156¢ffectively “wrote out of the
equation theffect of climate change on the status and recovery of the species.” Oceana MSJ at
40-41. NMFS responds thiat'did not limit its consideration of climate chantgea tenyear
period,” as both its “narrative discussion on climate change and the PVA model ctorside

term effects.”NMFS Opp. & MSJ a#l1.

16 Oceana also complains that NMFS ignored other comments it had placed before

the agency, concerning the implementation of “reasonable conservation’efg@&Oceana
MSJ at 1920, 44 Oceana Reply &8-29. But it offers effectively no detail or argument to
support these additional claim8ccordingly, the Court will deny these claims for relief.
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The Court concludes that NMFS saiéntly addressed the potential impacts of
climate change in the 2012 BiOpm its discussion, NMFS reviews the current state of scientific
data regarding climate change, and essentially determines that these datanamnthasive to
providea basis for accurate predictioregarding impacts on loggerheadss the agency
explainsin the BiOp, “current scientific methods are not able to reliably predict theefutu
magnitude of climate change, associated impacts, whether and to what @xtemnpactsvill
offset others, or the adaptive capacity of this species.” SAR 13156. The agency do&s draw
existingstudies to makeomepredictions about the types of factors that might affect loggerheads
as a result of climate change such asincreasing santemperatures at nesting beaches which
in turn would result in increased female:male sex ratio among hatchlings, aeaskewhich
could result in reduction in available nesting beach habitat, increased risk wiumekttion, and
changes in the abundance and distribution of forage species which could result in chtmges |
foraging behavior and distribution of sea turtle speti&AR 13231-32. According to NMFS,
however, the available science only enables it to offer these predictions atgenehnah
gualitative and relatively speculatidevel. SeeSAR 13231-33.Due to the agency’s stated
inability to quantify these predicted impaetsa contention that Ocearails torefute with
citation to anyoverlooked scientific evidence — the Court finds thatagency’s consideration
of climate change impacts in the 2012 BigxtisfiesNMFS’ burden td'usethe best scientific
and commercial data availablels U.S.C. 81536(a)(2).

Oceana cites cases in which courts have rejected anyagieontention that
consideration of climate change was unwarranted because of the uncertaihtetate/ailable
data, se®©ceana MSJ a&t2-43, buthose cases- unlike this one — involved wholesale failures

to even address the issugeeCenterfor Biological Diversity v.Salazay804 F. Supp. 2d 987,
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1008(D. Ariz. 2011)(* The BiOp does not analyze or even mention climate changadith

Yuba River Citizens League v. Nat'l Marine Fisheries Sét®3 F. Supp. 2d 1247, 1274 (E.D.

Cal. 2010) (“The court camn conclude that global warming’s potential impacts are so slight that

NMFES could ignore them without discussignPacific CoasEederation Fishermen’s Ass’'ns v.

Gutierrez 606 F. Supp. 2d 1122, 1184 (E.D. Cal. 2008he BiOp does not discuss this global
climate change data or mention thNIFS, at a minimum, considered tloiata.”} Nat'l

Resources Defense Council v. Kempthorne, 506 F. Supp. 2d 322, 370 (E.D. Cal. B&S) (*

acted arbitrarily and capriciously by failing tddaess the issug climate change in the BiOp.
This absence adnydiscussion in the BiOp of how to deal with any climate change is a failure to
analyze a potentiallymportant aspect of the problei. Here, by contrast, NMFS has offered
qualitativepredictions based on the available data, which it says it has considexeduating
loggerheads’ survival and recovery prospe@seana does not explain how climate change
related data might have been mtireroughly evaluatedith respect to the jeapdy analysis.
Another aspect of Oceana’s climate change argument is its contptifNMFS
limits its definition of the scope of the actiander review (that is, the continued operation of the
Scallop Fisheryjo a tenyear timeframe It contends thatWhere the agency expedtssee
some effects of climatehange on acentury scalé the decision to restrict the analysis to 10
years and assume no significant change during that period makes nd Sxesna MSJ at4
(quoting SAR 1315)f But as the Court already has descrilibd,agencyadequately explained
that due to the lack gdrecise data— including the lack of longerm data— NMFS cannotoffer
more thargeneralpredictions at this point regarding the potential impaddimate changen
loggerheads Even though NMFS articulated its conclusion regarding climate change in the

context of a tefyear timeframe, Section 5 of the BiOp nonetheless discusses thédong-
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impactof climate change, and the agency makes elbgrit lacks the capability to quantify the
magnitude of climate change impacts on loggerheads in the long@reana also argues that
the tenyear scope of reviewegardingclimate change is discordant with NMFES’ reliancetiom
PVA model’s prediction of population trajectories out to ¥88rs SeeOceana MSJ at 43But
there is no necessary discord in using the PVA'’s predictions at the 100-year nméoknboa
jeopardy analysis that, at least with respect to climate change, is expresststdnce to
predicted effects within the next ten yeafss already explained, the Court finds that the BiOp
providessufficientdiscussion of the anticipated loteym effects of climate change, within the
constraints of available datd.he Courthereforeconcludegshat NMFS adequately discharged

its obligation to consider climate change in the 2012 BiOp.

D. Incidental Take Statement
Finally, Oceana&hallenges the Incidental Take Statement issued as a part of the
2012 BiOp. As explained supad4-5, an ITS is required wheras hereNMFS concludes that
agency action will not jeopardize a species’ continued existence, yet va#t same takes

incidental to that action16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4); 50 C.F.R. § 402.144ijizonaCattle Growers’

Ass’nv. U.S. Fish & Wildlife, Bureau of Land Mgmt., 273 F.3d 122% 122 (9th Cir. 2001).

The ITS sets forth the permissible “impact on the species” as expressed ngitheritial take”

of loggerheads in the NWA DP&%eel6 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4). In the 2012 BiOp, NMFS
estimated that 161 loggerheads would be taken by dredge gear annually, with bf@tiaken

by trawl gear each year. In the IFSlocatedin Section 10 of the 2012 BiOp — those numbers
constitute limits on the number of loggerhead takasdhn occur in the Fishery annually. The
ITS thus provides a safe harbor that exempts the specified amount of incidenteditathe

take prohibition set forth in Section 9 of the ES®eel6 U.S.C. § 1536(0)(2). If the allowable
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level of incidentatake is exceeded, however, the agency is “required” to reinitiate Section 7
consultation “immediately.” 50 €.R. 88 402.14(i)(4), 402.16(aPceana challenges the
adequacy of the ITS with respect to both dredge and traw! fishimgpecificallymaintains that
due to inadequate monitoring of fishiagtivities in the Scallop Fishery, the take limits
established in the ITS do not serve as meaningful triggetedaeinitiation of consultation

The Court addresses each of these challenges in turn

1. Dredge

A scallop dredge attaches behind a commercial fishing vehicle and essentially
consists of a toothed bar on a frame with an attached bag on the backside of it. Dngdges va
size, with a “standard 18redge frame weigh[ing] approximately500 pounds.” SAR 13235.
As the frame drags along near to the sea bottom, the toothed bar dislodges $eltbes t
collect in the bag. SAR 13234. The dredge bag is made of “metal rings with twine mesh on the
top and, sometimes, chafing gear onibdom.” I1d. The ITS anticipates “the annual average
take of up to 161 [loggerheads] in dredge gear, of which up to 129 per year may be lethal in 2012
and up to 46 per year may be lethal in 2013 and beyond.” SAR 13295.

To determine whether this iig@ntal take limit of 161 turtles annually has been
exceeded, NMFS states that it will employ a “combination” of two monitoring apbes: a
“dredge hour surrogate as a measure of actual takes,” and “the methods to estimate sea
turtle/dredge interactiorss described in [a 2011 scientific paper authored by Kimberly T.
Murray].” SAR 13302. Both of these methods are aimed at addressing the inadequacy of
“observer coverage” as a means of monitoring loggerhead takes. Traditionabg-ixdhed
observers have accompanied fishing vessels on some of their outings, and thesesakserder

loggerhead takes when they occ&eeSAR 13301. Since implementing gear modifications to
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mitigate harm to loggerheads interacting with dredge gear, however,loggeylread takes are
now unobservable, as the turtles are deflected away from the dredge andelsesfmt
captured in the dredge bag and hauled up onto the éssel.

The two major modifications to dredge gear are (1) Turtle Deflector Dredges
(“TDDs") and (2) chain mats. A TDD is “designed to deflect sea turtles overedgelrather
than underneath it,” because “keeping sea turtles from going underneath theatictégeping
them out of the dredge bag is expected to reduce the severity of some intetaeti@tcur.”
SAR 13252seealsoSAR 13132. Chain mats provide a similar benefit by “act[ing] as a barrier
to prevent the capture of [sea turtles] in the ring of the bag.” SAR 13235. While the “gea
modifications are not expected to reduce the acuaber of sea turtle interactions with scallop
dredge gear,” SAR 13134, “the severity of sea turtle injuries as a rescélloppsdredge
interactions will be less if the turtle is interacting with a TDD or dredge equipjptedhain
mats as compared tostandard dredge.” SAR 1324@ealsoSAR 13252. Both modifications
are required throughout the majority of the Fishery during the months when loghprasance
peaks.SeeSAR 13132 (TDDs); SAR 13235 (chain mats).

Although these technologies are meant to benefit loggerheads, they make the
observation of loggerhead takes more difficult. As a consequence, NMFS plagystanalily
on a monitoring “surrogate” to measure when the numerical take limit of 16X tadebeen
reached® The surroge chosen by NMFS is the “dredge hour’that is, the number of hours

spent dredge fishing. NMFS will consider the ITS “exceeded,” thus re-tinggeonsultation, if

17 Of course, even when a turtle is merely deflected away from a dredge, the

interaction with the dredge gear still constitutes a “take” under the ESA16385.C.
§ 1532(19).

18 For the limited dredginthat occursvithoutthe use offDDs or chain mats, ¢

Fishery will continue to rely on observer covera§AR 1301.
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the “two-year running average of dredge hours in Mid-Atlantic waters . . . during tioel pér

May through November of any scallop fishing year is greater than thegawarthe total

number of dredge hours from Mid-Atlantic waters . . . during the same period of 2007 and
2008.” SAR 13302. The two-year running average for 2007-2008 was 252,323 hours. SAR
11599. The calculation and comparison of the two-year running averages will be pdrtorm
an annual basis. SAR 13297.

Oceana challenges two aspects of the ITS with respect to dredge fishimgg argu
that (1)NMFS’ use of a surrogatier monitoring incidental takes is arbitrary and capricious
because there are viable options for direct monitoring of these talckthat (2) even if
employing a surrogate is not unlawfIMFS’ choice of the dredge hour surrogate in particular
is arbirary and capricious, because the method fails to ser@aemeaningful trigger for
reconsultation. Oceana MSJ at 38; Oceana Reply at 135.

The Court first addresses whethIFS’ decisionto use a surrogate- rather
than to directly monitor loggerhead takesis-arbitrary and capricious. Oceana maintains that
two alternative methods could feasibly be employed to monitor takes, despitegheatbs
difficulties caused by the implemeritat of TDDs and chain mats. Oceana argues that NMFS
could rely upon either underwater video monitoring, or the estimation methodologiediset f
the 2011 paper authored by Murray. Oceana MSJ at 33-86cording to Oceana, NMFS
failed to explain whythe dredge hour surrogate was necessary in light of these methods, which,

according to Oceana, are available and superior to any surrogate.

19 As the Court noted supeda 37, NMFS claims to use the dredge hour surrogate in

combination with the estimation method developed in the Murray (2011) paper. But the ITS
seems to indicate that any plans to employ theadled “Murray framework” on an ongoing
basis are merely speculative. SR 13302. Accordingly, the Court focusesNMFS’

reliance on the dredge hour surrogate as its mechanism for monitoring loggekesad t
attributable to dredge gear.
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The Court disagrees with Oceana. NMFS explained that the Fishery’s gear
modifications obscure observers’ ability to count actual takes, making observeagmiless
effective.” SAR 13301. In light of this obscurity, NMFS considered alternatraadnitoring
takes, including underwater video monitoring and removing chain mats from someltauls
With respect to underwater video monitoring, NMFS determined, “[b]ased on the ititorma
currently available as well as the hardships experienced during previous hisag@thnology in
studies of sea turtle interactions with scallop dredge gear,” that its userfidoring “remains
infeasible.” Id. Likewise, NMFS concluded that because “removal of the [chain mats] will
likely increase the number of serious injuries and mortalities of sea tuttsg this method to
bolster observer coverage is not reasonallle.NMFS also considered using the Murray (2011)
framework on its own — rather than in combination with the dredge hour surrogate — to
numerically estimate takes, but reasonably (albeit briefly) explained éhapgroach has “a
number of caveats,” particularly given certain limitationsthe availability of data needed by
the model.SeeSAR 13302.

Oceana contendBatNMFS’ rejection of the video monitoring option “is not
based on current or complete information regarding the practicality of undecaatera use.”
Oceana MSJ at 340ceana points out that NMFS appears to have based its decision on the
authority of a single intra-agency memorandum issued in 2007, which, Oceana says, is both
unreliable and outdatedseeid. And Oceana cites parts of the record indicating that essar
have actually performed studies employing video monitoring on dredge gednaahdMFS has
relied on these studies to inform some of its decision mal&egid. at 34-35seealsoid. at 35
n.23 (citing studies in the record involving the use of video monitoring on scallop dredges, and

citing YouTube videos taken by cameras mounted on dredges). The fact that videsingonit
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has been used in some scientific studies, however, does notNBE® assessmerthat it is

not feasible to use underwater video as the mdthranonitoring dredge interactions in the
Fishery. As stated in the 2007 memorandum cited in the BiOp, the use of video in various
studies has been conducted not under normal fishing conditions, but under preferable weather,
sea stte, and lighting conditionsSeeAR 87-88. Oceana assertsoowever, that advances in
technology since 2007 renddMFS’ rationalefor rejecting video monitoring outdate&bee

Oceana MSJ at 335; Oceana Reply at 24 (“Current capabilities of underwater cameras were not
discussed in the ITS, and it is beyond dispute that technology has dramaticatigeatlsizace

then.”). But Oceana does not back up this contention with support specific to the question at
hand: whether video monitoring could feasibly serve as the primary means of monitedgg dr
takes. Moreover, the Court will defer to an agency’s judgment on a technitat suath as this

one, provided that the agency has explained its reasoSggCommunities for a Better

Environment v. EPA, 748 F.3d at 336. Here, NMFS has shown that it considered the option of

employing underwater video monitoring, yeasonablyejected its feasibility. The Court will
not upseNMFES’ decision on this point.

Nor is the Court persuaded tNFS’ rejection ofthe Murrayestimation
framework was arbitrary and capricious. Océabaef argument on this point does not
demonstrate that this methby itselffeasibly could be used to monitor dredge takes on an
ongoing basisSeeOceana MSJ at 336. The agencyonsidered this option and decided
against employing it as its primary means of monitoring loggdrtedas in the dredge fishery,
and the Court defers to this judgment.

In sum, the Courtoncludes thalMFS’ decision to monitor dredge takes by way

of asurrogate is not arbitrary or capricious. What remains, then, is Oceanaénghal the
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particular monitoring surrogate chosen by NMFS: the number of hours spent dredggifishin
Mid-Atlantic waters from May through November. Oceana maintainshbatredge hour
surrogate fails to function in a manner that will gives effect to the ITS’ drdge limit of 161
loggerheadsSeeOceana MSJ &6-38 Oceana Reply &4-26.

The provision of a monitoring mechanism in an Erfables the take limit to
operate as “a ‘trigger’ that, when reached, results in an unacceptable lewatlental take,
invalidating the safe harbor provision, and requiring the partiesitotige consultation.”

Arizona Cattle Growers’ Ass’n v. U.S. Fish & Wildlife, Bureau of Land Mgmt., 273 &t3d

1249 seealsoWild Fish Conservancy v. Salazar, 628 F.3d at 532 (“[A] numerical cap is useful
only insofar as the action agency is capable of quantifying take to determine wheggtrehas
been met.”).According to NMFS, the theory behind the dredge hour monitoring surrogate is
simple— the more hours spent dredge fishing, the more turtles will interact with dyedge
SeeSAR 13296, 13299. NMFS contends that by counting dredge hours and comparing them, on
an annual basis, against the average number of dredge hours fished in 2007 and 2008, the agency
has implemented a monitoring system capable of functioning as a trigger toidetefan the
dredge take limit of 161 turtles has been excee@eSAR 13302. And as already noted, if the
allowable level of incidental take is exceeded, NMFS is “required” to reinitiateoBetti
consultation “immediately.” 50 C.F.R. 88 402.14(i)(4), 402.16(a).

But thelncidental Take Statemeheresimply fails toexplainhow 252,323
dredge hours equals 161 takes. Instead, NMFS explains that it chose thisgparticwder of
dredge hours because 2007 and 2008 “are the first two years after chain maegjwezd and
the last two years included in the Murray [2011] analysis,” from which NMFS dsesgtimate

of 161 dredge gear takes. SAR 13382kalsoSAR 13245 (describing the Murray study in
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further detail). As Oceana points out, however, recording the fact that an hour offisiehge
hastaken place is not automatically equivalent to observing the occurrence occwrence of
a specific number dbggerhead takesin actuality, any number of takes might occur during a
given time period spent dredge fishingeeOceanaVSJat38 n.24. A surrogate is only as
useful as its fit with the actual object of stddy which the surrogate is substitutin8eeWild

Fish Conservancy v. Salazar, 628 F.3d at 581a(Surrogate is used, the agency must articulate

a rational connection between the surrogate and the taking of the Spedibs. Court
concludes that the 2012 BiOp fails to sufficiently explain how the specific numdesdde
hours thaNNMFS has chosen as a monitoring surrogate adequately servesas/ for the
numerical take limit of 161 loggerheads. As a consequence, the Court will reman8 the
NMFS so that it can either more clearip&ain the connection, or, if unable to do so, soithat
can choose a number of hours that ddigg with the numerical take limitln doing so, the
agency must address Oceana’s valid concern regarding the effectivenekmgfdn houbased
surrogate to a numerical take limit, in the contexa &ishery where conditions change on a

continuoushasis?®

2. Trawl
Somewhat similar to a dredge, trawl gear consists of a wide-mouthed net that
drags behind a vessel. While the trawl component of the Fishery consists of oaty\assels,
SAR 13131, the ITS still estimates “the annual average take of up to ividuads in trawl

gear, of which up to 66 per year may be lethal.” SAR 13295. To monitor this take limit, NMFS

20 Although the Court finds insufficient NMFS’ explanation regarding how its

surrogate, as set forth in the BiOp, can function as a tnggierespect to the dredge take limit,
the Court rejects Oceana’s broader argument that the use of dredge hoursaagmatedorr
loggerhead takes necessarily is arbitrary and capricious because ieidéosive with the
scope of the Fishery’s dredge operatioB€eOceana MSJ &7-38;seealsoOceana Reply at
23-25.
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will “continue to use observer coverage as the primary means of colleatidgntal take
information.” SAR 13302. This is because, “[u]nlike for dredges, chain mats are not required on
trawl gear. Therefore if a turtle were unable to avoid an oncoming trawl, it wiellg e
captured in the trawl and, when the gear was hauled to the vessel, an observer conftl spot a
record the incidentabke.” NMFS Opp. & MSJ at 39-40. The agency explains that it created
the numerical take limit of 140 turtles “using a statistical estimate that is not feasibleltaicon
on an annual basis . . . due to the data needs; length of time to develop, asdiéwalize the
estimates; and methodology used.” SAR 13303. Consequently, NMFS propesesating
takes by trawl gear “approximately every five yearsl Although not explicitly stated in the
BiOp, NMFS presumably will compare this estimate against the 140 turtle take limit to
determine whether that limit has been exceeded during each of the five yearsggreced
calculation of the estimate.

Oceana contends thatestimating trawl takes on a fiygar scheduleather than
more frequentlyenders the monitoring mechanism ineffectig@eOceana MSJ &8-39
Oceana Reply at 21. Oceana emphasizedNiHM&S’ track record over the past decade indicates
that new BiOps are issued much more frequently than every five years, amoréhidie
unlikely that the take limit actually will be monitored “during the life of the BiOp.” &ee
Reply at 21seealsoOceana MSJ at 39 (“The traagkar component of the Fishery apect to
operate with impunity because it is unlikely that any measure of its complianute be taken
before a new BiOp issues . . .."). Oceana “believes that such estimation cealthtd#g be
done on a monthly basis utilizing monthly observer reports, but should be done at least on an
annual basis to ensure that the limit has not been exceeded.” Oceana Reply at 21 a2d. Oce

does not, however, support this belief with citation to any evidence or authority. Notr does
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request the placement ofone observers on trawl vessels, and the parties’ briefing does not
address whether such a solution would be feasible.

The Court shares Oceana’s concerns regarding the effectiveness of aingpnitor
mechanism that is only able to assess every five years whetaenaaltake limit has been
exceeded. NMFS is required under its own regulations to reinitiate Section 7 atomsult
“immediately” if “during the course of the action the amount or extent of incidialg . . . is
exceeded.” 50 C.F.R. 8 402.14(i)(4¢ealsoid. 8§ 402.16(a). Thus, as Oceana argues, “there
may be no recourse even if the scallop trawl take exceeds the estimate foafghd gerars.”
Oceana Reply at 21. Nonetheldas® Court is unwilling to concluda this point thaNMFS’
trawl take monitoring mechanisnecessarilys arbitrary and capricious for this reason. The
agency'’s primary explanation for the five-year estimation perica la€k of data— may result
from constraints over which NMFS has littlerto control. In particulathe BiOpsuggestshat
the lack of data results fnoa dearth of observer coveragee SAR 13135, 13231, 13238,
point also made in the agency’s briefing, NMFS Opp. & MSJ atB%nd reiteratedy counsel
for NMFS at oral argument. The fiyeartimetable may reflect very real limitations BIMFS’
datacollection capabilitiesconsequentlyit is possible thadMFS’ monitoring system for trawl
takes representhe best available optidor measuring trawl takes in the Fishery

But the BiOp’s terse treatment of trawl take monitoring makes it difficult for the
Court to discern NMFS’ rationale in this regard. As notedldhg gap in measuring trawl takes
stands imarkedtension with theegulatory requirement that NMFS reiniti&gection 7
consultation “immediately” if “during the course of the action the amount ontesténcidental
taking . . . is exceededB30 C.F.R. § 402.14(i)(4)The single paragraph that NMFS devotes in

the BiOp to explainingts monitoring choice is insufficient to allay this conceNor does the
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paragraph addressing trawl take monitoring discuss in any detail the olalNIVH-S’ statistical
model and its data needs. NMFS also fails to address whether any moniterimafiges exist
that might be oprable on a shorter timetable. Given these serious uncertainties about the
effectiveness of the fivgear monitoring framework, the Court must remand to the agency so
that it can either provide a more thorough explanation of its choice, or, if unable to dek@ rea

different conclusion.Cf. Delta Air Lines, Inc. v. Expofimport Bank, 718 F.3d 974, 978 (D.C.

Cir. 2013)#

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court will grant in part and deny in part each
party’s motion for summary judgmeand it will remand this matter to NMFS for the limited
purpose of addressing the deficiencies in the Incidental Take Statemdettdgedin this
Opinion. The Court also directs the parties to meet and confer regarding an appsopdedtde
for NMFS to follow in its revision of the ITS.

The Court rejects Oceana’s argument that the BiOp should be vacated. @acatur
the BiOp or even just of the ITS would not be an appropriate remedigicase “The
appropriateness of vacating an inadeqyaggplained agency action depends on whether (1) the
agency’s decision is so deficient as to raise serious doubts whether the ageadggquately
justify its decision at all; and (2) vacatur would be seriously disruptive or costtyrthernAir

Cargo v U.S. Postal Serv., 674 F.3d 852, 860-61 (D.C. Cir. 2012). As the Court’s analysis of

the ITS indicates, NMFS may be able to justify its choices regatd@monitoring of dredge

21 In its briefing and at oral argument, NMFS suggested that monthly reporting by

observers on trawl vessels may provide a mechanism for more timely moniseehiVFS

Opp. & MSJ at 40but the BiOp itself does not explain how this reporting system might play any
role in serving as the mechanism for determining when the take limit hagXmssded. Nor is

it clear to the Court how periodic reporting could lead to a finding thatate take limit has

been exceeded, given NMFS’ description of the paucity of its sample_sized. See
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and trawl takeshrough morehorough and informative explanation. Moregwbecause the

Court has concluded that the BiOp’s jeopardy determination and its associated take limits are
not arbitrary and capriciouthe Scallop Fishery will continue to operate undeseHamits This
means that NMFS must continue to itseexistingmonitoring tools in the interiravenwhile it
revises thdTS. An appropriate Order accompanies this Opinion.

SO ORDERED.

/sl
PAUL L. FRIEDMAN
United States District Judge

DATE: December 172014
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